1960

State of Utah v. Paul L. Nelson : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF POINTS

POINT I.

THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR IN FAILING TO GIVE DEFENDANT'S REQUESTED CAUTIONARY INSTRUCTION NO. 8.

POINT II.

THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED PALPABLE ERROR IN FAILING TO CHARGE THE JURY TO DISREGARD THE ENTIRE TESTIMONY OF H. KENT FRANCIS, STATE CHEMIST, WHICH FAILURE CONSTITUTED REVERSIBLE ERROR.

POINT III.

THE DEFENDANT WAS CONVICTED IN VIOLATION OF THE FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT TO THE

UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION AND ARTICLE I,
SECTIONS 7 & 12 OF THE CONSTITUTION OF UTAH.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The defendant was involved in an automobile accident in North Salt Lake, Davis County, Utah, on the 14th day of November, 1959; and as a result of said accident, Floyd James was critically injured and died a few hours later in a Salt Lake Hospital. During the same evening defendant was arrested and taken to a Justice of the Peace, E. S. Arbuckle, who issued a commitment lodging the defendant in the Davis County Jail, on a charge of drunk driving. On the 17th day of November, 1959, a complaint was filed against the defendant, charging him with the crime of automobile homicide, in violation of Section 76-30-7.4 Utah Code Annotated (1953), to which charge a plea of "not guilty" was entered; and preliminary hearing was set for December 16, 1959. Following the preliminary hearing, the defendant was bound over to stand trial in the District Court of Davis County.

The information upon which the defendant was charged read in part as follows:

"That the defendant, Paul L. Nelson, while under the influence of intoxicating liquor, did willfully, unlawfully, and feloniously drive an automobile in a reckless and negligent manner upon U. S. Highway 91 in North Salt Lake, Davis County, State of Utah, and did collide with an automobile driven by

Floyd James, resulting in the death of the said Floyd James.”

A trial on the issues was held before the Honorable Charles D. Cowley on Wednesday, April 20 and 21, 1960, following which a jury returned a verdict of Guilty as Charged in the Information. The defendant appealed to this Court.

Since the proceedings and conduct of the State's Officers during the investigation is questioned, a rather detailed examination of the transcript will follow.

The evidence shows that on November 14, 1959, at approximately 7:45 P.M., the defendant was proceeding north on Highway 91. As he approached the semaphore-controlled intersection of Highway 91 with Cudahy Lane, which lane intersects Highway 91 in an east-westerly direction (See Plaintiff's Exhibit P), a 1950 Dodge automobile, owned and operated by a Mr. William Jackson, was in the process of making a left turn from Cudahy Lane, westerly and south onto Highway 91. The defendant's automobile struck the left rear of the Jackson automobile and then proceeded through the intersection and collided with a Chevrolet automobile driven by the deceased, Floyd James, as the James automobile was attempting to cross U. S. highway 91 from the west. (T. 14, 15). The testimony is conflicting as to whether at the time of the collision, the sema-

phore showed amber or red for north and south-bound traffic on U. S. Highway 91 and green for east and westbound traffic on Cudahy Lane. (T. 15). However, there is also testimony that the activated time device which controlled the semaphore had not been working properly prior to the accident. (T. 133, 144).

State's witness, Lester A. Blackner, testified that, following the accident, he noticed "that the smell of alcohol was on his (defendant's) breath," and that he "felt" that defendant was intoxicated (T. 35, 36). However, Beth Jackson, a passenger in the 1950 Dodge automobile driven by her husband, who observed defendant while she was seated in a police officer's automobile with him, said that, although she detected a smell of alcohol coming from the front seat, where Mr. Nelson was seated, (T. 58), she was unable to determine whether the defendant was intoxicated. (T. 58). Similarly, Mr. William Jackson expressed no opinion as to Mr. Nelson's alleged intoxication; and in fact, testified that, in his conversations with him, he experienced no difficulty in understanding the defendant and that his words were clear. (T. 65).

Mr. Kent Francis, a chemist for the State of Utah, testified of his receiving and testing a urine sample which was taken from the defendant. The urinalysis conducted for the purpose of determining

the amount of alcohol in the urine, was the subject of detailed examination. (T. 67, 68, & 69). The analysis showed that the urine sample contained .259 per cent ethyl alcohol. Through the use of a mathematical equation, Mr. Francis was permitted to testify, over defendant's objection, that the defendant's blood contained .184 per cent ethyl alcohol. (T. 68, 69). Mr. Francis admitted under cross examination that there was considerable variance in the conclusions to be drawn from alcohol-urine analyses, depending upon the specific gravity of the urine tested, the time, and amount of consumption. He did not profess to know or take these factors into consideration. (T. 71, 73-75). This witness did not profess to know or testify concerning the effect of the determined amount, or of any amount of blood alcohol upon the bodily functions of any person or upon the defendant.

Mr. Deveraux, a part-time ambulance driver, took Mr. James to the St. Mark's Hospital. While there, he witnessed a conversation between Trooper Schmidt and Mr. Nelson. A portion of Mr. Deveraux's testimony follows: (T. 80).

"A. Trooper Schmidt asked if he would submit to a blood test, and he said that he didn't know enough about what this test would do to him, and he would just as soon not give it.

Q. And then what?

A. And then the Trooper said, ‘— well, this man was quite concerned about Mr. James’ condition, and he said, ‘If he dies, what will this blood test do for me?’ and Trooper Schmidt said, ‘It may help you in court, and it may harm you.’ He said, ‘I wouldn’t want to say.’ And he said he had just as soon not submit to the blood test if he didn’t have to.

Q. And then what?

A. We just stood there for probably 30 minutes and just listened to them back and forth while we were waiting for the car.”

Although Mr. Devereaux stated that he had smelled an alcoholic odor coming from the corner where the defendant was sitting and expressed his opinion that the defendant was under the influence of intoxicants, (T. 81) he further explained on cross examination that defendant’s conduct indicated symptoms of shock; and that, if he hadn’t smelled alcohol, he didn’t know what his opinion would have been.

Mr. Warren Haddenham, who drives an ambulance for the South Davis Firemen’s Association, indicated that he saw defendant at St. Mark’s Hospital. He testified concerning a conversation between Trooper Schmidt and Mr. Nelson regarding a blood-alcohol test.

“A. And then the conversation went to Mr. Schmidt on this blood-alcohol test.

Q. What did the defendant say?

A. He didn't know what he wanted. He wanted to know what the blood test was. He didn't quite understand what Trooper Schmidt meant by blood-alcohol test." (T. 87).

Although this witness smelled alcohol on Mr. Nelson and believed him to be intoxicated, he too explained that many symptoms observable in defendant were compatible with mild shock, and frankly admitted that his opinion would have been different had it not been for the smell of alcohol. (T. 91).

Deputy Marshall, Cleon W. Gwynn, of North Salt Lake City, assisted in the investigation of the accident and was called as a witness for the State. He drove Mr. Nelson, in company with others, to St. Mark's Hospital in Salt Lake City, where Mr. James had been taken for emergency treatment. En-route, he observed that defendant appeared sick; and when asked if he were sick, said that he felt like "he wanted to vomit . . . all I want is air." (T. 105).

The Deputy also witnessed a conversation between Trooper Schmidt, a portion of which follows:

" . . . and he asked the defendant if he would sign for a blood-alcohol test, and the defendant then refused, wondering what effect that would have on him in case the person would die . . . Gary Schmidt had asked the defendant if he wouldn't just think this over. That it was for his own good." (T. 106).

The witness said that Mr. Nelson "did smell

of alcohol" (T. 106) and, in his opinion, appeared intoxicated.

Following the episode at the hospital, the witness, in company with the defendant, returned to the scene of the accident and then accompanied Marshal Reynolds with the defendant to the home of Judge E. S. Arbuckle. He testified that Judge Arbuckle questioned him concerning the amount he had had to drink. (T. 109).

Town Marshal, Roy A. Reynolds, of North Salt Lake, arrived at the scene of the accident at approximately 7:55 P.M. and assisted in interviewing witnesses at the scene of the accident. His interview with Mr. Nelson included questioning into his activities of the day and:

"...I asked him how much he had had to drink." (T. 135).

Following this conversation, Mr. Nelson was placed under arrest by Marshal Reynolds, and he was taken to the home of Justice of the Peace E. S. Arbuckle for the purpose of obtaining a commitment. Of the conversation which passed at the time the defendant was at the Justice's home, the following is pertinent: (T. 136).

"... I explained to the Judge at that time what the trouble was, why the defendant was there. Then he proceeded to talk to the defendant. He asked the defendant where he had been; he got no answer. He asked him how

much he had had to drink, and the defendant went into the same procedure of from two to five, he didn't know for sure. He broached the question of how long the defendant had been drinking — had been partaking is how he worded it, I believe . . .”

The Marshal was asked whether he observed any odors “about the defendant.” (T. 136). He replied that there was an odor of alcohol. (T. 137). The Marshal then concluded that the defendant “was definitely drunk.” (T. 139). On cross examination, however, the following was read from the transcript at the preliminary hearing. (T. 140). Mr. Palmer:

“From this experience did you form an opinion as to the condition that Mr. Nelson was in?

“I learned a long time ago not to form opinions.

Q. Did you form an opinion in this case as to whether or not he was under the influence of intoxicating liquor?

A. I definitely knew that he had been drinking but I didn't form an opinion until I got a report from the State Chemist.”

“Q. Was that your testimony at the preliminary hearing, Officer Reynolds?”

A. I believe you are right, yes.”

Marshal Reynolds also testified that prior to the time of the accident, they had experienced difficulty with the traffic light. (T. 143, 144). That

the safety engineer from the State of Utah had come to make adjustments upon his suggestion. (T. 145).

Officer Gary Schmidt of the Utah Highway Patrol, as previously indicated, accompanied the defendant and others to the hospital. The officer testified that he requested the defendant to submit to a blood test; but before the hospital technician would withdraw the blood, it was necessary to obtain the defendant's written consent. Mr. Nelson said that "he did not want to sign it." (T. 167). During this time, defendant repeatedly expressed concern for the condition of Mr. James. After again requesting defendant to submit to a blood test, the following conversation occurred:

" . . . I did explain to him that if he refused this blood test, that he could lose his driver's license.

Q. Did he give you a blood test?

A. No. About four times during the course of the time that we were there, I asked him for the blood test, and he refused all four times.

Q. Did you give him any other kind of test?

A. Yes, I secured a urine sample.

Q. Tell us how you got that.

A. About immediately after the last — the third refusal, I went out to my car and secured a bottle from the trunk of my car

that we used for that purpose, and brought it back in, and I asked Mr. Nelson, 'if you don't want to give us a blood sample, will you give us a urine sample?' And he readily agreed to it . . ."

The Officer testified that he smelled an odor of alcohol about the defendant, and based on this and his other observations, in his opinion, the defendant was intoxicated. (T. 173).

Judge E. S. Arbuckle, the Justice of the Peace of North Salt Lake was produced by the State as a witness. A part of the conversation which he had with the defendant in his home is as follows: (T. 180).

" . . . and he sat down, and Royal (Marshal Reynolds) told me he had charged him with drunk driving, and I talked to him — Mr. Nelson — and I asked him if he had been drinking, and he said, 'Yes.' And I asked him how much, and he said 'two beers, a vodka, and some whiskey. And then I talked to him a minute or two and asked him why he was driving — why was he trying to run a red light, and I just said to him, 'how many did you say you had?' and he said, 'I had four beers, and two or 'three vodkas,' that time. And he was talking so you could hardly understand what he was saying. His speech was very thick tongued, and you couldn't hardly understand what he said. And we talked there a while, and we decided that we had better lock him up for the night until he sobered up, and then bring him back so that he could talk so that we could understand what he said and he could understand us."

(T. 181).

Glen Townsend indicated that he arrived at the scene of the accident shortly after it had occurred and observed that the defendant was “white.” “He looked like he might be in shock from the accident.” (T. 190). He did not notice anything unusual concerning his walk. (T. 190).

Similarly, Rosemary Hendrickson, had seen defendant immediately before the accident, and in fact had followed him from 4500 South State Street in Salt Lake City, to St. Mark’s Hospital. (T. 192). She noticed nothing erratic or unusual about the way he drove. She talked to Mr. Nelson in the Sheriff’s car, following the accident, and indicated that the defendant didn’t have much to say, and observed that he appeared “pretty worried . . . and scared.” (T. 194).

Jay Hendrickson testified of his casual acquaintanceship with Mr. Nelson and indicated that on the day on which the accident occurred, they drank about three glasses of beer together between approximately 11:00 o’clock in the morning and 3:30 or 4:00 o’clock in the afternoon. (T. 197). Following this, the defendant accompanied the witness to his home, where they each drank a vodka mixed with orange juice. The witness prepared the drink and indicated that he had put about an ounce of vodka in each glass of orange juice. (T. 199).

A large dinner was then eaten by Mr. Nelson and Mr. Hendrickson, and neither had drunk more alcoholic beverage. Mr. Nelson left his home at 7:15 P.M., and at that time Mr. Nelson was not intoxicated. (T. 199). He explained that Mr. Nelson's "slow 'Oakie' walk" was normal, as was his speech. (T. 201).

Mrs. Joan Nelson, wife of the defendant, was following the defendant in Mrs. Hendrickson's automobile and had followed him from approximately 4500 South State Street in Salt Lake City to St. Mark's Hospital, where a traffic light separated them. She next found her husband sitting in a police car following the accident. She observed the he was "nervous and upset" (T. 210) but was not under the influence of alcohol. (T. 211).

The defendant, Paul Nelson, stated that about noon he went to a lounge in Salt Lake City with Jay Hendrickson and Ted Connors, where "he had about three beers". (T. 219). They then went to Mr. Hendrickson's house, where he had a drink of vodka and orange juice. He spent approximately 3½ to 4 hours at Mr. Hendrickson's home, where he ate a large meal and then proceeded to Bountiful. (T. 220, 221). At this time he did not feel the effect of the beer or the vodka and orange that he had drunk earlier in the day.

As a result of the accident, he suffered a bruise-

ed and lacerated knee and a bump on his head when he struck his chin on the steering wheel. (T. 225). The defendant denied that he had told the officers or Justice of the Peace E. S. Arbuckle that he had drunk whiskey earlier in the day. (T. 229).

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR IN FAILING TO GIVE DEFENDANT'S REQUESTED CAUTIONARY INSTRUCTION NO. 8.

Defendant requested the Court to give the following instruction, identified as Defendant's Requested Instruction No. 8:

"To warrant you in convicting the defendant, the evidence must to your minds exclude every reasonable hypothesis other than that of the guilt of the defendant; that is to say, if after a full consideration in comparison of all the evidence in the case, you can reasonably explain the facts given in evidence on any reasonable ground other than that of the guilt of the defendant, you must acquit him."

The Statute under which the defendant was charged reads as follows — Utah Code Annotated, 76-30-7.4 (1953):

"Any person, while under the influence of intoxicating liquor . . . to a degree which renders him incapable of safely driving a vehicle, who causes the death of another by operating or driving any automobile . . . in a reckless, negligent, or careless manner, or

with a wanton or reckless disregard of human life or safety, shall be deemed guilty of a felony; and upon conviction shall be punished by imprisonment in the State Penitentiary for a period of not less than one nor more than ten years."

The difference between this Statute, the violation of which constitutes a felony, and Utah Code Annotated 41-6-43.10, (1953) dealing with negligent homicide, which is a misdemeanor, is that the person causing the death is intoxicated. Intoxication while driving is the element which takes the conduct of recklessly driving an automobile out of the misdemeanor classification and makes it a felony. It becomes extremely important, therefore, to examine with great care the testimony upon which the defendant was convicted as pertains to his alleged intoxication.

The defendant was admittedly involved in a serious accident of considerable proportions. Extensive damage was done to three automobiles; defendant was shaken up considerably as a result of a knee and head blow; and deceased, Floyd James, received mortal wounds. Although the defendant indicated, immediately following the accident, that he did not think he was hurt, it is submitted that he was not in a position at that time to make such an appraisal. It is not difficult to understand that, as some witnesses testified, the defendant was

“white” and appeared “upset and scared.” He was worried about the condition of Mr. James, as well as the possible consequences to himself, which involved the possible loss of his job, and, of course, the possible legal consequences of the accident. (T. 225). The only evidence of intoxication was based upon the various witnesses’ opinions; and in each such case, an important element of their consideration was the smell of alcohol present. Several witnesses, including some of the State’s witnesses, did not believe the defendant was intoxicated; and some expressly stated that, although they believed him to be intoxicated, their opinion would have been different had the smell of alcohol not been present.

It has previously been established by this Court in the case of *Utah Farm Bureau Insurance Company v. Chugg*, 6 Utah 2d 399, 315 P. 2d 277, (1957), that the smell of alcohol is not sufficient upon which to sustain a finding of intoxication. In that case the defendant was found lying on the seat of his car, on which was also an empty bottle, and he smelled of liquor. The Deputy Sheriff observed the defendant’s eyes to be “rolling,” his speech incoherent, and that he was “kind of throwing his body around.”

The Court determined that:

“. . . the fact that there was an empty bottle in the car and the smell of liquor are

not sufficient to support a finding of intoxication.”

The Court has previously adopted the rule of law under circumstances such as those present in this case, where the State relies upon circumstantial evidence, that the trial court, in order to avoid or minimize the danger of permitting the jury to speculate upon such evidence, must give a cautionary instruction such as was requested by this defendant.

In the case of *State v. Burch*, 100 Ut. 414, 115 P. 2d 911 (Utah, 1941) the Court stated, page 912:

“If circumstantial evidence is submitted to a jury, it is accompanied by an instruction that to convict upon such evidence, that evidence must exclude every reasonable hypothesis of innocence. That such an instruction is given implies that there is a question for the jury to decide as to whether or not such evidence does exclude that hypothesis. But, if the evidence is such that reasonable men would not differ upon the fact that it includes such an hypothesis, then it is not a question for the jury, but is one for the Court.”

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