1960

State of Utah v. Paul L. Nelson : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Respondent agrees with appellant's statement of facts as far as it goes, although it appears unduly detailed and to contain a great amount of irrelevant matter. However, there is considerable other evidence that should come to the attention of the Court in order that it not be afforded only an incomplete and slanted picture of the case, one highly favorable to appellant.

Respondent deems it more orderly procedure to set out the necessary additional facts in the course of its argument rather than in a separate statement of facts at this point. This will avoid repetition and unnecessary imposition upon the time of the Court.

STATEMENT OF POINTS

POINT I.

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT COMMIT ERROR IN FAILING TO GIVE DEFENDANT'S REQUESTED INSTRUCTION NO. 8.

POINT II.

NO ERROR OCCURRED IN THE JUDGE'S CHARGE TO THE JURY TO DISREGARD THE TESTIMONY OF THE STATE CHEMIST.

POINT III.

APPELLANT'S CONVICTION IN NO WAY VIOLATED EITHER THE UNITED STATES OR STATE CONSTITUTION.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT COMMIT ERROR IN FAILING TO GIVE DEFENDANT'S REQUESTED INSTRUCTION NO. 8.

It is true that the instruction requested by appellant has at times been given in Utah cases.

As appellant says, it was used in *State v. Burch*, 100 Utah 414, 115 P. 2d 911. That case, however,

differed radically from the one at hand in that all of the evidence there was circumstantial. Proof of this is the statement of the court at page 912:

“The present case is out of the ordinary in that there is not one ultimate fact necessary for a conviction that is substantiated by direct evidence. * * *

In this case, on the other hand, there is abundant direct evidence that defendant did considerable drinking prior to the accident, and this, coupled with the circumstantial evidence present, certainly was sufficient to prove his drunken condition.

Appellant relies heavily on the case of *Utah Farm Bureau Insurance Company v. Chugg*, 6 Utah 2d 399, 315 P. 2d 277. He takes from the context thereof this statement: “The fact that there was an empty bottle in the car and the smell of liquor are not sufficient to support a finding of intoxication” in an effort to support his theory about circumstantial evidence and the necessity of giving the requested instruction.

There was, of course, much evidence in this case additional to the smell of alcohol. A careful reading of the facts of the *Chugg* case shows it is not in point and cannot serve as much help in deciding this one. There the defendant had been rendered unconscious by the accident and was in pronounced shock. Here defendant was not knocked unconscious and, as he points out in his brief at page 15, was not hurt in the crash.

In the *Chugg* case the officer testified, "From the smell, I *imagine* he had been drinking quite a bit." (Italics ours.) The court observed that the officer had seen defendant for only about a minute altogether, and did not see him walk at all. In making a point of this, the court seems to have opened the door in this case to testimony of the appearance of defendant's walk as being proper evidence as to intoxication.

The apparent doctrine in the quotation appellant takes from the *Burch* decision (A. B. 17), if in fact it really meant what appellant contends, seems to have been watered down somewhat in later decisions. And, incidentally, the facts of the *Burch* case constitute just about as poor a case for the prosecution as can be imagined.

In the two cases cited by appellant himself, the court seems to limit the obligation of giving the instruction desired by appellant to a circumstance involving no direct evidence, as shown in the following statement: "where the proof of a necessary fact is dependent *solely* upon circumstantial evidence, such circumstances must be such as to exclude every reasonable hypothesis other than the existence of such fact and be inconsistent with its existence and inconsistent with its nonexistence." (Emphasis ours.) *State v. Erwin*, 101 Utah 365, 120 P. 2d 285 at p. 302, and *State v. Anderson*, 66 Utah 573, 158 P. 2d 127, at page 130.

The use of the term "solely" is important in this case because here, as previously stated, there was con-

siderable other evidence, direct evidence, indicating the fact of intoxication, and its existence did not rest upon circumstantial evidence alone.

The short concurring opinion of Justice Wolfe in the *Burch* case is enlightening and useful. There he states:

“I concur in the result. I do so in the belief that there was no substantial evidence to show the defendant’s participation in the alleged offense to warrant the submission of the matter to the jury. However, I do not agree in the views indicating that circumstantial evidence is to be considered by a jury in a different and more restricted light than is direct evidence. There are cases where the set of circumstances may be stronger than much direct evidence which could be adduced. In the dovetailing of circumstantial evidence criminal prosecutions may oft-times be made equally as strong and convincing as in the use of direct evidence. Juries and trial courts should not be required to view it as weaker evidence which must ‘exclude the hypothesis of innocence.’ We should rest content with a rule that if a jury has no reasonable doubts about the guilt of a man, taking into consideration all competent evidence, it may convict, without including in opinions expressions which may be seized upon to confuse and confound the ordinary jury whose task is at best a difficult one.”

In the *Anderson* case, Justice Wolfe again concurs with the result, but discusses the question of reasonable hypothesis as follows:

“I concur but I call attention to the inclusion in the opinion of the quotation from *State v. Erwin*, 101 Utah 365, 120 P. 2d 285, 302. I think the first and last sentence of that quotation helpful. The middle part of the quotation stating that the ‘circumstances must be such as to reasonably exclude every reasonable hypothesis other than the existence of such fact and be consistent with its existence and inconsistent with its non-existence’ is too abstruse for the ordinary jury, and from my experience has even misled judges to withhold from the jury cases which should properly have been submitted. I paid my respect to this sort of a test in my concurring opinion in the case of *State v. Burch*, 100 Utah 414, 115 P. 2d 911, at page 913.

“My objection is not that the test, properly understood and used, is not a valid one. In certain cases where the circumstances as to each necessary element of the crime are not of themselves anywhere near compelling as to such element, but when taken with those other transactions which give color or lend interpretation and also interlock and reinforce other groups of circumstances relating to other transactions in the history of the events which it is alleged constitute a crime, so that from the whole a definite conclusion of guilt may or may not be drawn, it may be wise to instruct the jurymen in such fashion as to cause them to parade before their minds all possibly reasonable hypotheses consistent with innocence as a method of deliberation. Such a case was *State v. Laub*, 102 Utah 402, 131 P. 2d 805. But even under the facts of that case I believe that less confusion would arise from the giving of an instruction that if

from all the circumstances the jury had no reasonable doubt as to the guilt of the defendants, they could find them guilty; that if all the circumstances pointed concurringly to the guilt of the defendants so as to remove all doubts founded on reason, they would be justified in finding the defendants guilty.

“The main objection to the test that the evidence must exclude every reasonable hypothesis lies in the phrase ‘reasonable hypotheses.’ It invites the jurymen and indeed judges (see *State v. Bruno*, 97 Utah 17, 85 P. 2d 795), to conjure up in their imaginations every sort of hypothesis which may be fitted into the evidence and then in the process of discarding some and retaining others the test of reasonableness is applied with great variation as to their judgment as to what is reasonable. Often in determining whether a particular explanation is or is not reasonable, judges invade the province of the jury and I fear that the method of taking up all possible hypotheses which the evidence permits and then sifting out the reasonable from the unreasonable, those terms depending of course on the judgment of the judges, leads to such invasion.

“It is odd how some abstract statement applicable when first devised as a test on the facts then in evidence persists down through the years to become an incubus on the law. There is no use of inflicting on a judge and much less on a jury a test which says that where a fact rests on circumstantial evidence alone the ‘circumstances must be such as to reasonably exclude [“in every reasonable mind” should I

suppose be supplied] every reasonable hypothesis other than the existence of such fact,' etc.

“The simple test is: ‘Under all the evidence in this case can I as a judge say that no normal functioning mind applying its reasoning faculties to the evidence in the case could conclude that the defendant was guilty.’ If so it must be withdrawn from the jury. If the judge has doubt as to that it should go to the jury with the instruction that it, the jury, must be convinced beyond a reasonable doubt as to defendant’s guilt before it should find him guilty. These are comparatively simple tests—albeit they do depend on the experience and capacity of the minds of the fact finders, a human element of uncertainty we cannot escape from. There are no absolutes in the human mind. We have no robots into which we can feed evidence, and turn a crank and get the exact, correct and perfect result. All that can be expected is human justice—that which emerges from not infallible and imperfect human beings even after every attempt to be fair and apply to the utmost their comparatively frail and limited human faculties.”

In *State v. Laub*, 102 Utah 402, 131 P. 2d 805, the court made this statement:

“While the State’s evidence is circumstantial, such evidence may be just as conclusive or even more so than direct evidence, but the prosecution still has the burden of proving beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant is guilty.
* * *

At T. 87 Warren Haddenham, an ambulance driver, referred to a conversation involving defendant and Trooper Schmidt in which defendant said he had drunk two or three schooners of beer and two vodkas and a whiskey. On the following page, under cross examination, Haddenham said that defendant had mentioned he had gone to a bar for drinks prior to the accident.

At T. 106 Deputy Marshall Gwynn testified that defendant, in answer to Trooper Schmidt's question, said he had gone to the Ashtonian beer parlor for three schooners of beer, and that he also had a couple of drinks of whiskey and a drink of vodka at another place. At T. 109 under cross examination, Gwynn said the Justice of the Peace had asked defendant how much he had drunk, and that defendant said he had several drinks—four or five drinks.

At T. 135, North Salt Lake Town Marshall, Royal A. Reynolds, testified:

“He wasn't sure; it varied anywhere from two to four or five schooners of beer, two shots of vodka, and some whiskey. He wasn't definitely sure on how much whiskey.”

At T. 180 Justice of the Peace E. S. Arbuckle said he had talked with defendant and asked him if he had been drinking, and that defendant said yes. “* * * and I asked him how much, and he said two beers, a vodka and some whiskey.” After some

further conversation Arbuckle then testified he again asked defendant "How many did you say you had? And he said 'I had about four beers and two or three vodkas', that time."

At T. 219 defendant himself testified to having drunk three beers at a tavern and at T. 220 said he drank some vodka later at the home of a friend.

In circumstances such as existed in the *Burch* case where there was no direct evidence and the State's case had to ride or fall on circumstantial evidence alone, the instruction requested might be appropriate. However, such is not the situation here because of the abundance of direct evidence.

If the court were to adopt defendant's theory that whenever the evidence indicates a "reasonable hypothesis" of innocence, the case should not be allowed to go to the jury at all (A. B. 17), normal criminal practice would indeed be stifled and perhaps eventually destroyed. Any defendant could be expected to conjure up evidence of such nature as to constitute a prima facie "reasonable hypothesis" of innocence and the State's case would automatically dissolve. This should not be the law in Utah.

In addition, a defendant in a civil case is not entitled as a matter of right to have instructions given in his own words where the applicable law is set forth in substance otherwise. The proper law, as applied

to the facts of this case, was adequately covered by the instructions actually given by the Court, and particularly by Nos. 2, 5, 11, 15 and 17. Thus, the Court committed no error. Even if it should be held that error did occur, however, it could not be considered prejudicial under all the circumstances, since the jury was fully apprised that each and every allegation had to be proven beyond reasonable doubt.

POINT II.

NO ERROR OCCURRED IN THE JUDGE'S CHARGE TO THE JURY TO DISREGARD THE TESTIMONY OF THE STATE CHEMIST.

Admittedly the State Chemist did not attempt to tell the Court what effect certain amounts of alcohol in various body fluids would have upon the conduct of an individual, nor did the State produce medical testimony to this effect. On the basis of this, the Court gave Instruction No. 9 (R. 29), reproduced at page 21 of appellant's brief. The instruction is identical with appellant's requested Instruction No. 4 (R. 17). It reads as follows:

“You are instructed that, though there is evidence regarding the results of a chemical test of the defendant's bodily fluids, to wit, urine, if there is no evidence of the effect of that percentage or any other percentage of alcohol in the blood by weight upon the human being, you

must disregard the results of the chemical test which has been received in evidence.”

Respondent believes that this instruction fully protects appellant’s rights and that it precludes the occurrence of any error that might otherwise have arisen in the jury’s considering the State Chemist’s testimony as to the results of his examination of appellant’s urine.

If there is any weakness at all in the instruction, it exists only in the use of the single word “if” at line 4 as the instruction appears at page 21 of appellant’s brief. It was however fully adequate to convince the jury that since no medical testimony of the effect of alcohol on the body was before it, it could not proceed to consider evidence of the alcoholic content of body fluids. This instruction alone fully protected appellant’s rights and no others were needed. We do not believe that the instruction is error. If it is, however, it was self-induced by appellant and he can take no comfort from his mistake.

Appellant now urges “palpable” error and asks that on the strength of *State v. Cobo*, 90 Utah 89, 60 P. 2d 952, the Court disregard the long established rule of this jurisdiction that errors regarding instructions will not be considered on appeal unless exceptions are taken at trial.

The Cobo doctrine, however, is to be invoked only in capital cases and in cases of grave and serious

offenses carrying long terms of imprisonment; (See page 958 and only where proper determination of the issues would otherwise be denied). *State v. Peterson*, 121 Utah 229, 240 P. 2d 504.

This, of course, is not such a case in either sense. It is not a capital case nor is it grave or serious in comparison with other felonies in this jurisdiction, the sentence being only for a period of from one to ten years, nor was appellant denied a fair trial by virtue of the instructions given.

Appellant comes to a strange conclusion in seemingly urging error in the Court's failure to give an instruction advising the jury of certain presumptions dealing with intoxication according to amounts of alcohol in the blood. These presumptions are given only in Section 41-6-44, U. C. A. 1953, 1959 Supp. (A. B. 22), and do not deal with the crime charged, except perhaps by analogy. There was no occasion for an instruction dealing with these presumptions. They relate to the crime of driving while under the influence of intoxicating liquor or drug—a completely different charge than that here, automobile homicide.

Appellant expresses a fanciful theory at page 23 of his brief, in urging that, had the presumptions been outlined for the Court, his chances for acquittal would have been improved. Not only were the presumptions not relevant to the crime charged at all, but in addition,

he indulges in mindreading and speculation in guessing at the jury's conclusion.

Appellant is mistaken in saying there was palpable error, and expects entirely too much under all the circumstances, in urging reversal for failure to give an instruction not asked for, especially when Instruction 9 fully protects him.

POINT III.

APPELLANT'S CONVICTION IN NO WAY VIOLATED EITHER THE UNITED STATES OR STATE CONSTITUTION.

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